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I Entertainment, Inc et al

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
SAN JOSE DIVISION

DENIZ BOLBOL and JOSEPH CUVIELLO, Case No.: A1-5539PSG

INDIVIDUALLY
ORDER DENYING SHANNON
Plaintiffs, CAMPBELL'S MOTION TO
V. INTERVENE; DENYING FELD

FELD ENTERTAINMENT, INC. (dba
RINGLING BROS. and BARNUM & BAILEY
CIRCUS) JAMES DENNIS; MATTHEW
GILLET; and DOES 1-10,

MOTION TO STRIKE; AND

Defendang. )  (Re: Docket Nas. 41, 55, 78)

At issuein this casare three related motions brought by three different parties. First, o
May 28, 2012, Shannon Campbell (“Campbell”) moved to intervene pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. |
as a matter of right under Rule 24(a) or alternatively for permissiveemtgon under Rule 24(b).
Second, on July 13, 2012, Defendants Feld Entertainfftezit!”), dba Ringling Bros. and
Barnum & Bailey Circus [Ringling Bros?), James Dennis (“Dennis”), Matthew Gillet (“Gillet”),
and Does 110 (collectively “Defendants™iled a motion to dismiss or alternatively a motion to
strike portions of the Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) brougRlbintiffs Deniz Bolbol

(“Bolbol”) and Joseph Cuviello (“Cuviello®)(collectively “Plaintiffs”). Third and finally, on

! The court notes that Cuviellofisoceedingpro se.

1
Case No.: 11-5539 PSG
ORDER

DISMISS AND ALTERNATIVE

GRANTING -IN-PART BOLBOL'’S

)
)
)
|
) ENTERTAINMENT 'S MOTION TO
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|
) MOTION TO AMEND PLEADINGS
)

Doc. 1

07

P, 24

Dockets.Justia.c

pm


http://dockets.justia.com/docket/california/candce/5:2011cv05539/247689/
http://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/california/candce/5:2011cv05539/247689/107/
http://dockets.justia.com/

United States District Court
For the Northern District of California

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

August 19, 2012, Plaintiffs moved to amend and supplement their SAC and file a Third Amengded

Complaint (“TAC").

In an effort to move this case forward, the court ade®all three motions together.
Having considered the arguments and papers, the BEINIES Campbell’s motion to intervene,
DENIES as moobDefendants’ motions dismissor to strikeand GRANTSIN-PART Plaintiffs’
motion to amend.

|. BACKGROUND

The motionsurrently before the court are only the most recent bdidgegeen Plaintiffs
and Defendants over the treatment of circus animals and the rights of the people estdhmabt
treatment. Confrontations occur not only in the courtroom; the parties ahtiokash at various
sites where Defendants perform anldintiffs protest the circus and gather intelligence about the
conditions of the animals.

The repeated othe-groundconflicts between the parties have resulted in numeleyed
disputes, and in 200#e parties achieved a détente of sortsBdHpol et al. v. Ringling Bros. and
Barnum & Bailey Circus, et gl04-cv-00082JW (2004 litigation”), which involved several of the
same partieand related issueBJaintiffs obtained injunctiveelief in connection with their speech
activities though the court issuing the injunction also noted the protection was limited in scop4
As this court noted in its June 4, 2012 ordismissing most of Plaintiffs’ claim@June 4order”),
that decision plays significant role in this case.

The parties are familiar with the faabthe casgwhich the court provided in detail in its
June 4 ordef. For the purposes of this ordérereforethe court offers only the procedural
background of the three motioasissue.

1. First Amended Complaint, June 4, 2012 Order, Motion to Intervene

Plaintiffs filed theinstant actionn the Superior Counf Santa Clara Couniyn August 19,

2011, and Defendants removed the complaint to this court on November 16, @diDecember

2 SeeDocket No. 43.
% The court finds that jurisdiction and venue are proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332 and § 14
respectively.
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21, 2011 PDefendants moved to dismiss Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint (“FA@Mjch this
court grantedn-part. Citing standing issues, statute of limitation bars, and the estoppebéffect
the holdings in the 2004 litigation, the court in the June 4 alidarissedll but two of Plaintiffs’
claims: (1) their claim under California Civil Co&ection51.7 that they were the intended
recipients of Defendants’ express intent to harm particular persons or preper(2)their claim
under California Civil Code Section 52.1 that Defendants engaged in intimidation through the
of laser pointers and sticks with enlarged photos to prevent Plaintiffs frogismxgrspeech rights
protected by Atrticle I, Section 2 of the California Constitnfi The court dismissetthe remaining
claimswith leave to amend.

Before the court ruled on Defendants’ first motion to dismiss, Campbell movedyB28yla
2012 to intervene, ostensibly to cure the standing issue raised by Defendants antentocintt
found dispositive for some of Plaintiffs’ factual allegatins.

2. Second Amended Complaint

On June 22, 2012, Plaintiffs filed their Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”"), in \itinégh
made certain additional factual allegations to correct#ficiencesn their first attempt. They
added specific dates to their allegations, statingahaugust 21, 2008, and August 18, 19, and
20, 2010, Defendants used “laser pointers to harass and interfere” with Plait&tdaping of
the treatment of the circus amils® andthat on numerous occasions, and particularly on August
12, 2008 in Oakland and August 25, 2009 in Sacramento, Defendants used ropes to interferg
Plaintiffs’ “free use of public streets and free speech right®8laintiffs added an allegafi that

when Defendants sprayed Bolbol’'s camera with water and “rendered [it] inapéthbl intended

* SeeDocket No. 18.

®> SeeDocket No. 43.

® SeeDocket No. 41.

" See generall{pocket No. 52.
8 SeeDocket No. 511 36-37.
° See id1T 42-43.
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to prevent her from videotaping “areas that have already been designated afopublic
Plaintiffs also alleged that as a result of Defendants’ actions, Plasuifesred “severe stress and
anxiety, depression, and loss of sleep” and that the emotional distress “has belativeiih'

Plaintiffs claimed that the factual allegations supported five causes of action: (1) vislati
of Plaintiffs’ free speech rights under Article 1, Section 2(a) of the California Constitution, (2)
violations of California Civil Code Sectidl.7 for threats and intimidation on the basis of
political affiliation, (3) intentional infliction of emotional distress, (4) violations efiférnia Civil
Code Section 52.1 based on Civil Code Sections 1708 and 3479, and (5) injunctive relief for
harassment pursuant to California Code of Civil Proce8emion527.6. They again sought
compensatory, punitive, and treble damageasl penalties, injunctive reliegnd attorney’s fees
and costs. On July 13, 2012, Defendants moved to dismiss the SAC or in the alternative to s
portions of it, and Plaintiffs opposéd.

3. ProposedThird Amended Complaint

On August 19, 2012, before the court issued an order regarding Defendants’ second n
to dismiss Plaintiffs sought leave to amend the SAC and file a Third Amended Complaint
(“TAC"). 2 In the propose@AC, Plaintiffs added factual allegations regarding events occurring
after trey filed the original complaint: (1) onugyust 30, 2011, Defendanised a rope to interfere
with Cuviello’s protest activities in Daly City; (2) on July 8, 2012, Defendants’ @yepk threw a

plastic bottle and wooden sticks at Cuviello while he wdsotaping in a backstage area of a

O

irike

10tio

Fresno arena; and (3) on August 7, 2012, Defendants’ employees used a rope and “dseio bo:[
S

push and assault and batter” Cuviello and Bolbol to prevent them from videotaping the.anim
Plaintiffs also raised four new causes of actiand added two defendants, Mike Stuart

(“Stuart”), Director of Circus Operations, and David Bai({&Bailey”), Assistant General Manager

9See idy 53.

"'See idf 57.

12 seeDocket Nos. 68, 69.
13 SeeDocket No. 78.
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of Ringling Bros. Blue Unit. In addition to the five causes of action raised iBAl® Plainiffs
added claims for: (1) violations of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 based on Defendants’ infringement of
Plaintiffs’ First Amendment speech rights under the Federal Constitu#pasgault and battery
based on Defendants’ employees’ actions at the protests; (3) trespasstdebatt on damage to
Bolbol’'s camera; (4) negligent supervision by Defendants of their employeb aviolations of
the First Amendment and California Civil Code Section 43 as bases for theis ciader
California Civil Code Sectionb1. Plaintiffs also added requests for injunctive relief under
California Civil Code Section 52.1(b) and 52(c)(3) to their claim for relief undigio@ea Code
of Civil Procedure Section 526(a)(1).
Il. LEGAL STANDARDS

A. Motion to Dismiss

A complaint mustontain “a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleg
is entitled to relief.** If a plaintiff fails to proffer “enough facts to state a claim to relief that is
plausible on its face,” the complaint may be dismissed for failure ®atefaim upon which relief
may be granted A claim is facially plausible “when the pleaded factual content allows the col
to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the miscondject. 4fle
Accordingly, under Fed. R. Civ. P. (@(6), which tests the legal sufficiency of the claims allege
in the complaint, “[d]ismissal can based on the lack of a cognizable legal thebeyalysence of
sufficient facts alleged under a cognizable legal thetty.”

On a motion to dismiss, the abunust accept all material allegations in the complaint as
true and construe them in the light most favorable to the non-moving'paFhe court’s review is

limited to the face of the complaint, materials incorporated into the complaint bsmede ad

“ Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2).

15 Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombls50 U.S. 544, 570, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d 929 (2007).
16 Ashcroft v. Igbal129 S.Ct. 1937, 1940, 173 L.Ed.2d 868 (2009).

17 Balistreri v. Pacifica Police Dep’t901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990).

18 See Metzler Inv. GMBH v. Corinthian Colls., Irf&40 F.3d 1049, 1061 (9th Cir. 2008).
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matters of which the court may take judicial notidélowever, the eurt need not accept as true
allegations that are conclusory, unwarranted deductions of fact, or unreasoreableciee®
“Dismissal with prejudice and without leave to amend is not@pjate unless it is clear ... that
the complaint could not be saved by amendméht.”

B. Leave to Amend

When a scheduling order has been issued with deadlines for amending the pleadings
that deadline has passed, a plaintiff first must comply with Fed. R. Civ. P. 16(b)(d)lify the
scheduling order to allow for late amendméeftdsed. R. Civ. P. 16(b)(4) requires a “good cause
showing. The focus of the good cause inquiry in the Rule 16(b) context is the “diligehee of t
party seeking the modificatn,” in particular whether the party was “diligent in assisting the
[c]ourt to create a workable schedule at the outset of litigation,” whethesc¢tieeluling order
imposes deadlines that have become unworkable notwithstanding its diligentteftansy”
and whether the party was “diligent in seeking the amendment once it becametajpparen
extensions were necessaﬁ?."

If a plaintiff has successfully shown good cause, then pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a
plaintiff “may amend its pleading on@s a matter of course” within 21 days after serving the
complaint or, if a responsive pleading is required, within 21 days after servicesgfamnsive
pleading or 21 days after service of a motion under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b), (e), or (f). Any
subsequent amendments require “the opposing party’s written consent or theleauet’s*

“The court should freely give leave when justice so requifes.”

19See idat 1061.

20 See Sprewell WGolden State Warrior266 F.3d 979, 988 (9th Cir. 2001¢esalso Twombly
550 U.S. at 561 (“a wholly conclusory statement of [a] claim” will not survive a mation t
dismiss).

2 Eminence Capital, LLC v. Aspeon, 816 F.3d 1048, 1052 (9th Cir. 2003).

?23ee Johnson v. Mammoth Recreations, Bit5 F.2d 604, 609 (9th Cir. 1992).

23 Adobe Systems Inc. v. Coffee Cup Partners, Nm. C 11-2243 CW, 2012 WL 3877783, at *6
(N.D. Cal. Sept. 6, 2012) (citintpphnson 975 F.2d at 609).

4 Fed. R. Civ. P. 18((2).
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C. Intervention

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 24, a party may intervene in an ongoing action eithertizs a
of right or with permission from the court. The court “must permit anyone twamnte who . . .
claims an interest relating to the property or transaction that is the subject cidheand is so
situated that disposing of the action may asaatpral matter impair or impede the movant’s abilit
to protect its interest, unless existing parties adequately represent treatififelThe court may
allow intervention when a party “has a claim or defense that shares with thactianh a common
question of law or fact?’ When considering whether to permit intervention, the court “must
consider whether the intervention will unduly delay or prejudice the adjudicatibe ofiginal
parties’ rights.®

lll. DISCUSSION

A. Leave to Amend

On August 19, 2012, before the court ruled on Defendants’ motion to dismiss the SAC
Plaintiffs moved for leave to amend the SAC and file a TAC. As described abovee#ietp add
new factual allegations about events occurring subsequent to the filing of thisialacanplaint
and to add new causes of action and new defendants.

Plaintiffs styled their request as a leave to amend their pleadings pustarne 15(a), but
they should havinsteadrequested modification of the scheduling order pursuant to Rule #6(b),
This court issued a scheduling order on December 9, 2011, and set a deadline of sixty days f

entry of the order for joinder of additional parties and amendment to the ple3tifigs.parties

5 d.

% Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(a)(2).
271d. 24(b)(1)(B).

281d. 24(b)(3).

29 See Johnsqrd75 F.2d at 609.
30 SeeDocket No. 15.
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had until February 7, 2012, to amend their pleadings witleautiring leave from the court to
modify the order® That deadline has long since passed.

Although the court could deny Plaintiffs’ motion to amend solely upon their failueseto s
modification of the scheduling ord&jn an exercise of its discretioi will treat Plaintiffs’
motion as ale factomotion to modify the scheduling ord&r.The first step isdetermination
whether Plaintiffs have shown good cause to modify the scheduling order under Rularddé{b)
so, the inquiry shifts to whether they should be given leave under Ralg*15Unlike Rule
15(a)’s liberal amendment policy which focuses on the bad faith of the partpgéeknterpose
an amendment and the prejudice to the opposing party, Rule 16(b)’s ‘good causetistandar
primarily considers the diligence of the party seeking amendniént.”

1. Fed. R. Civ. P. 16(b)

In the proposedAC, Plaintiffs seek to add new factual allegations, new causes of actiof
and new defendanf§. The new factual allegations include confrontations between Plaintiffs an
Defendants occurring on August 30, 2011, July 8, 2012, and August 732Uh2. allegations
arising from confrontations taking place after Plaintiffs filed the SAGapported by good cause
because Plaintiffs have been diligent in addiregrtf® Plaintiffs sought leave to amend their

complaint less than two months after éwents occurred

3lseeid.
32 See Johnsq75 F.2d at 6009.

33 Cf. Liberty Mut. Inc. Co. v. Cal. Auto Assigned Risk Pa. C-111419 MMC, 2012 WL
3277213 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 9, 2012).

3 See Johnsqr975 F.2d at 608.

¥ Seeid.

3¢ SeeDocket No. 78.

¥ See id.

38 See Johnsqr975 F.2d at 609 (noting the primary consideration in the good cause determing
is plaintiff's diligence). .
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The addition of factual allegations from August 30, 2011, however, does not reflect the)
same diligence on the part of PlaintiffEheyhad at least ta earlier opportunities to add those
allegations to their complaint: on December 7, 2011 when they filed the FAC and on June 22
when they filed the SACPIlaintiffs’ choice to wait until their third attempt to adliegations that
occurred over thremonths before the FAC and nearly ten months before the SAC is a delay
incompatible with the “good cause” standard under Rule 16(b).

Plaintiffs request to add two new defendants, Stuart and Bailey, arising out of thei
participation and supervision of the events occurring on August 7,%30t2their reply, however,
Plaintiffs seem to suggest that Bailey and Stuarts’ supervision predategetattion, stating that
they “acted as supervisors of [Defendants’] employees engaged ibaspd-harassmenthigh
culminated in the events of August 7, 20£2.The court is unclear to what extent Plaintiffs seek
to add the new defendants, but finds good causefonBlaintiffs’ request to ad8tuart and
Bailey as defendants for tlaflegations arising out ohé August 7, 2012 confrontation. To the
extent Plaintiffs seek to bring any other claims against Stuart and Bailepuitidiieds Plaintiffs
failed to exercise the diligence required by Rule 164/s.Defendants point ougtuart has been
Defendants’ mployee for eight years and Bailey has been an employee for two'yeRieintiffs
had ample opportunity to raise those claims against Stuart and Bailey in one ofdleathes
complaints.

Turning to the new causes of action, Plaintiffs want to antesid claims to include(l)
violation of their First Amendmersipeech rightsinder 42 U.S.C. § 1983; (2) assault and batte
(3) trespass to chatt€¥) negligent supervision; and (5) violations of their First Amendment righ
and California Civil Code Section 43 as bases for their claim under Califomi&Gde Section
52.1% They also seek to add injunctive relief under California Civil Code Sections 52.1 and

52(c)(3) and California Code of Civil Procedure Section 526(&5(1).

3% seeDocket No. 78.
49 Docket No. 88.
41 seeDocket No. 85.
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Plaintiffs fail to povide good cause for adding the 42 U.S.C. § 1983 cthienf-irst
Amendment violation to support a claim under California Civil Code Section 52.thatrespass
to chattels claim. The factual allegations supporting those clatimst Defendants uskreats and
harassment to deprive Plaintiffs of speech rights and that Defendants d&odgdd camera by
spraying water on i arose from events describedthe original complaint. The request to add
alternative theories for injunctive relief likewise arose from the originahiswgiving rise to this
litigation. Plaintiffs’ failure to raise those claims in their FAC or their SAC rewvbais lack of
diligence in pursuing those claims. Plaintiffs argue that they are merelg toeiflaws the court
identified in June 4 ordéf. But curing the flaws in the FAC was the reason the court gave leav
file the SAC. Plaintiffs had their chance to cure their compjaiir failure to do so at the
appropriate time is not reason now to allow further amendment. They have failed toositbw g
cause for the court now to amend the scheduling order to add those claims.

The assault and battery claithe negligent supervision claim, and the violation of
California Civil Code Section 43, which protects people from “bodily restraint or,harose
from the events occurring after the SAC was filed, and so the court finds Paidre diligent in
pursuing those claims. Good cause thus exisafidw the Plaintiffs to add #mto their
complaint Plaintiffs ae limited, however, to raising those claims only on the factual allegations
arising out of the 2012 confrontation$faintiffs cannot use those claims for the earlier disputes
with Defendants because they have shown no good cause for their failurehieradshrlier.

To summarize, the court finds good cause under Rule 16(b) to amend the scheduling ¢
so Plaintiffs can add factual allegations regarding the events of July and 20¢ds Plaintiffs
also may add the causes of action arising out okthlzms— specificaly the negligent
supervisionassault and battergnd California Civil Code 48laims— and add Stuart and Bailey

as defendants only as to those recent events.

42 seeDocket No. 78.
“seeid.

44 seeDocket No. 88.
10
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2. Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)

The court also finds that leave to amend srapriatefor all but the negligent supervision

claim against Stuart and Bailepnder Rule 15(a), which is the second determination the court must

make before permitting amendméntThe Ninth Circuit has instructed that Rule 15(a) is “very
liberal” and lewve to amend should only be denied when the amendment: (1) “prejudices the
opposing party”; (2) “is sought in bad faith”; (3) “produces undue delay in litigat@n4) “is
futile.”*® The court may also consider whether Plaintiffs have exhibitgzk4ted failure to cure
deficiencies by amendments previously allow&d.”
a. Bad Faith
Defendantdirst argue that Plaintiffs engage in “cyclical” amendments that reveal a bad
faith motive?® The court disagreesAs a matter of right, Plaintiffs could fil¢ FAC without
leave of court, and they filed the SAC pursuant to this court’s leave to amend afien¢hée
order. The proposed TAC is the only amended complaint for which Plaintiffs havetesleave
and does not evince a bad faith motive.
b. Prejudice
Defendants next argue that they will be prejudiced because they musid@spotime,
money, and other resources to Plaintiffs’ amended compf&ir@ting Davis v. Astrug®
Defendants argue that like the plaintiff in that case, Plaintiffs iere engaged in “repeated
amendments to the complaint” that ultimately prejudice Defendants and “wgggtsegranting

leave to amend> To the degree th&tlaintiffs attempt to add new legal theories and facts they

%> See Johnsqr975 F.2d at 609.

6 AmerisourceBergen Corp. v. Dialysist West,@65 F.3d 946, 951 (9th Cir. 2006).
47 Carvalho v. Equifax Info. Servs., LL629 F.3d 876, 893 (9th Cir. 2010).

8 SeeDocket No. 85.

¥ See id.

%0250 F.R.D. 476, 482 (N.D. Cal. May 2, 2008).

11
Case No.: 11-5539 PSG
ORDER




United States District Court
For the Northern District of California

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

could have added earlier, the court agrees with Defendants’ argument. But theemiyrents
that survived the Rule 16(b) inquiry are the factual allegations and causes of asirayaéer
Plaintiffs filed the SAC. Theewallegations are similar to the earlier allegations and the saifise
action do not present a radical departure in legal theory, such that at this pemdd»$ would be
prejudiced in presenting a deferréeThe court finds leave to amend would not prejudice
Defendants.

C. Futility

Defendants argue that leave to ahehould be denied because Plaintiffs’ claims are futile.

“Under futility analysis,” denial of leave to amend “is improper unless it & cle. that the
complaint could not be saved by any amendmehtfere, Plaintiffs allege that in the July 2012
and August 2012 encounters Defendants’ employees threw bottles and sticks and usediéseir
and ropes to interfere with Plaintiffs’ activities. Under California law, battetfany intentional,
unlawful and harmful contact by one person with the person of andthéssault is “a
demonstration of an unlawful intent by one person to inflict immediate injury on thenpef
another then present™ California Civil Code Section 43 protects against bodily restraint or haf
The allegations Plaintiffsrpsent, therefore, state a plausible cause of action for aasdddattery
and a violation of the protection against bodily harm provided in California Civil Codiesé8.
The court agrees, however, that Plaintiffs’ negligent supervision claim ikpratic. To
the extent that Plaintiffs raise the claim against Stuart and Baikegatise of action could not
survive amendmentUnder Califonia law, employers are liable “for negligent supervision of an

employee if [they] knew or should have knowatthiring the employee created a patrticular risk ¢

°1|d.; seeDocket No. 85.
%2 Cf. Morongo Band of Mission Indians v. Rp883 F.2d 1074, 1079 (9th Cir. 1990) (finding
denialof leave to amend for prejudice to opposing party appropriate where “new claiimgisat
the amended complaint would have greatly altered the nature of the litigatidridrced
defendants into “an entirely new course of defense”).
>3 United States v. Corinthian Colleges55 F.3d 984, 995 (9th Cir. 2011).
> Ashcraft v. King228 Cal. App. 3d 604, 611 (1991)
% pPlotnik v. Meihaus208 Cal. App. 4th 1590, 1603-04 (2012).

12
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hazard, and that particular harm materializ8sl"iability only attaches ttéthe entity which
employed the alleged offender, not against other individuals who were involved in hiring or
supervising that person” Plaintiffs seek tdringthe cause of action against Bailey and Stuart
based orthe men’ssupervision of Defendants’ employe&ut they make no allegations — nor
could they thatBailey and Stuart artne employing entityas opposed to merely supeors of
the employeesThus, Plaintiffs’ claims of negligent supervision against Bailey and Steart a
futile.

Plaintiffs alsoseek to bring a negligent supervisicause of action against Feld
Entetainment, Inc (“Feld”). Plaintiffs point to the ongoing litigation to allege: Fedd knew or
should have known that its employees were likely to engage in tortious conduct Bgirtifts >°
They assert that Feld’s failure to properly supervise the employeehtiofithat knowledge
constituts negligent supervisioif. The court finds that, although perhaps not with the most
clarity, Plaintiffs have alleged sufficient facts to state a claim oigeg supervision against Feld
andtherefore is not futile.

d. Undue Delay
Defendants arguéat allowing amendment of the complaint would unduly delay the

litigation, especially in light of the August 31, 2012 fact discovery cut-off and therbiger 18,

2012 deadline for dispositive motioffs.Neither party has moved to amend the scheduling ordef

which seta trial date of February 19, 2013. Plaintiffs argue that any delay is as much afresul

Defendants’ motions to dismiss eaused byheir amended complainté.

% Brantley v. BoydCase No. 07-6139 SC, 2011 WL 1225630, at *9 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 1, 2011)
(internal citations omitted).

" Taylor v. Ron’s Liquors IncCase No. C 10-00694 SI, 2010 WL 4010140, at *3 (N.D. Cal. Oq
13, 2010).

%8 SeeDocket No. 88.

%9 SeeDocket Nos. 78-2, 88.
%0 SeeDocket Nos. 78-2, 88.
®1 SeeDocket Nos. 85, 15.
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Undue delay, alone, cannot provide the basis for denying leave to amendlairothp
Aside from the negligent supervision claims against Stuart and Bailegouinefound no other
prong supports denying leave to amend for the remaining claims that survived ti&@®ule
inquiry. The court, therefore, will not deny leave to achsolely on the basis that it might cause
undue delay.

The court neverthelesscognizes that this case needs to move past the pleading stage,
especially in light of the rapidly @poaching trial datePlaintiffs may file a TAC within seven
days that complies with the court’s instructions abowamely limiting their amendments to the
factual allegations and claims arising from July and August 2012 — but may not makeemy
amendments to the complaint. They have had now four opportunities to deerepteadings
which is more than sufficient to satisfy the liberal standard under Rule®5(&ae TAC as filed
will be the pleadings upon whit¢he case will proceed.

B. Motion to Dismissand Motion to Strike

Because the court has granted Rifisnleave to amend the TAC to add allegations
regarding confrontations with Defendants in July and August 2012, the court dismisses
Defendants’ motion to dismissd motion to strike the SAC as m&otThe court emphasizes,
however, that this dismissa without prejudice and does not reflect on the merits of Defendant
motion.

C. Intervention

Campbell seeks to intervene in this action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(a), which governs

intervention as a matter of right, or pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(b), which governs permissi

intervention.

%2 SeeDocket No. 88.
%3 See Bowles v. Readk98 F.3d 752, 758 (9th Cir. 1999).

% See, e.gFerris v. City of San Jos€ase No. 1bv-01752-LHK, 2012 WL 1355715, at *11
(N.D. Cal. Apr. 18, 2012)Adams v. KraftCase No. 1@v-00602-LHK, 2011 WL 3240598, at *7
(N.D. Cal. July 29, 2011).

% See Baker v. Lewi€ase No. 11-3493 LHK, 2012 WL 1932867, at *1 (N.D. Cal. May 29, 201
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1. Intervention as a Matter of Right

To intervene as a matter of right, a party must meet four requiremerttse @pplication is
timely; (2) the party “has a ‘significantly protectable interest’ relatinthe property or transaction
involved in the pending lawsuit”; (3) “disposition of the lawsuit may adversely dffedparty’s]
interest unless intervention is allowed”; and (4) “the existing parties do not éelgquratect the
[party’s] interests.®® The burden is on the party seeking intervention to show all four factors, 4
motions to intervene are “interpreted broadly in favor of intervenfibrBecause the court finds
that Campbell does not have a protectable interest that is related to the trang&tmntiffs’
lawsuit and that disposition of the lawsuit will not adversely affect Campbdkl'sest, the court
does not address the first or fourth factors.

Campbell argues that she has a “significantly protectable interest” relatiedntdf® suit
because, like Plaintiffs, she has an interest in her speech and proteshagbt®talleges
Defendants infringe. Defendants point out that Campbell fails to show how hertirgeetsted
to Plaintiffs’ suit. The court agrees. Although Campbell has stated an intettgsatallels the
interest Plaintiffs seek to protect, she has not showrirteanterest arerelated.

Unlike permissive intervention, the standard for “relatedness” for inteoveas of right
requires more thaoommon questions of law or fact. Campbell must show that she “will suffer
practical impairment of [her] interests as a result of the pending litig&tfo6@ampbell fails to
show how the interests are related beyond superficial similarity. Plaitaiftsof standing to
bring a cause of action for Campbell’s injuries highlights that flid®laintiffs lose their case,
Campbell is not precluded from bringing her cause of action. Plaintiffs’ faalutbeir injunction

claim does not preclude Campldebm seeking that relief in a separate action. Campbell points

® Chinatown Neighborhood Ass'n v. BrowBase No. 12-3759 PJH, 2012 WL 4059896, at *1
(N.D. Cal. Sept. 14, 2012) (citidnited States v. Aerojet Gen. Cqrf06 F.3d 1142, 1148 (9th
Cir. 2010)).

®7|d. (citing Prete v. Bradbury438 F.3d 949, 954 (9th Cir. 2006)).

%8 California ex rel.Lockyer v. United State450 F.3d 436, 441 (9th Cir. 2006).
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nothing more than the fact that she also might have a claim against Defengtaatgention as of
right requires more.

Even if Campbell showed a related protectable interest, shédfaitsculate how
disposition of the suit could adversely affect her. If Plaintiffs succeed onrjugiction claim,
Campbell theoretically would also benefit from that protection, but if PlaintiffsGainpbell is
not precluded from seeking relie¢iiself. As to the claims on which Plaintiffs are collaterally
estopped® Campbell is either likewise collaterally estopped or she is not, but that detéomiis
not impacted by the underlying litigation. Campbell, therefore, has not showhehabsld be
significantly impaired if she could not intervene.

Because Campbell has not shown two of the fequiredelements for intervention as of
right, the court denies her motion to intervene on those grounds.

2. Permissive Intervention

The standard for permissive intervention is lower: the party must show onlysitauef
law or fact in common” with the action in which they seek to intervene, that thestaguimely,
and that the court has “an independent basis for jurisdiction” over the faiifthie party meets
the threshold requirements, the court has considerable discretion to permit or to deny
intervention”*

Defendants argue Campbell’s motion is untimely because she filed it afeardaets filed
their first motion to dismisand because she knew about the facts giving rise to her claims long
before she filed her motion. To determine timeliness, the court considers thoeg fd9 “the
stage of the proceedings at which an applicant seeks to intervene; (2) tdecerguher parties;

and (3) the reason for and length of del&y.”

%9 SeeDocket No. 43.
OSee id. Fad. R. Civ. P. 24(b).

"LSee In re Benny91 F.2d 712, 721-22 (9th Cir. 1986)enter for Biological Diversity v. U.S.
EPA Case No. C-11-06059, 2012 WL 909831, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 16, 2012).

2 County of Orange v. Air Cal799 F.2d 535, 537 (9th Cir. 1986).
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Here, the proceedings are still in the pleading stage, even though the trialsidtior
February 19, 2013. Although the impending trial date appears to weigh against irgarvent
Campbdlin fact moved the court for intervention at the end of May, well before the cldset of
discovery or the trial dateThe prejudice to Defendants from Campbell’s late entrance to the c§
is minimal in light of the similarity of the claims that sheses, as noted in greater detail below.

But Campbell provides no reason for her delay other than references to Plaimdifiitity
to adequately represent her claims. Her delay of nine months is substantianguioC arguably
should have had notigauch earlier that Plaintiffs had filed an action in which she might want tq
join, especially in light of her membership in the same small organization of wihichifs are
members® On the other hand, Campbell may not have realized Plaintiffs did not have standif
address her claims until Defendants filed their first motion to dismiitkough a close call, the
court finds for the purposes of the threshold requirements for permissive interventigphells
motion was timely.

Campbell’s claimarise out of many of the same confrontations giving rise to Plaintiffs’
suit. Like Plaintiffs, Campbell protested Defendants’ treatment of the cinougla and attempted
to document the treatment through use of a video camera. And like Plaintifédlegfes that at
these protests Defendants harassed her and interfered with her exercispeétteasd protest
rights. Indeed, Campbell and Plaintiffs are members of the same orgamitiaimanity through
Education, and engaged in the same protests. Campbell’s claims, therefore coreseo
guestions of law and fact, such as whether Defendants’ employees engagedsinghbedsvior.

Campbell also meets the final prong because the court has independent jurisdictioar o\
claims. As in Plaitffs’ case, Campbell and Defendants are diverse, and based on her claims,
amount in controversy exceeds $75,000. The court may properly exercise divessligtjon

over Campbell’s claims.

"3 See Officers for Justice v. Civil Serv. Com’n of City and County of San Frare®té.2d
1092, 1095 (9th Cir. 1991) (holding that for purposes of timeliness, the inquiry is when an
intervening party should have become aware that their intevestsnot adequately protected
rather than when they actually became aware).
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Having established that Campbell meets the thresholdreegents for permissive
intervention, the court now turns to whether, in its discretion, it will permit hee leawtervene.
Defendants argue that Campbell should not be allowed to intervene because Iseardam
similar to Plaintiffs’ claims thathey are also subject to dismissal and are not actionable.
Defendants misstate the result of the June 4 order dismissing many, but notlaihtdfs?
claims. The court found Plaintiffs alleged sufficient facts to support claider @alifornia Civil
Code Section 52.1 for Defendants’ use of intimidating actions to threaten Plap&é&sh in
violation of Article 1, Section 2 of the California Constitution. Campbell allagamilar
violation in her complaint.

Nevertheless, the court finds that most of the claims in Campbell’'s proposed complai
would be subject to dismissal as described in the June 4 order. For example, shel&als t
severe emotional distress in her IIED claim, and her factual allegatibit$) bear striking
similarity to Plaintiffs’, fail to support her claims for violations of California Cividde Sections
1708 and 3409. If the court allows Campbell to intervene, it must allow her the opportunity to
fully litigate her claims’* To the extent that her complaint fahort, she would likely have a righf
to at least one amendment if not more, which would delay further setting the Vaatle © be
litigated. The court is allowing Plaintiffs one final opportunity to set their pleadings.wiip
Campbell to intervene when her proposed complaint is already problematic woultieeset t
proceedings back three motiorRlaintiffs would have to wait until Campbell’s claims could be
sorted and Defendants would need to present repetitive motions to dismiss.

In light of the disruption Campbell’s intervention is likely to cause in the pragreséthis
case, and because the timeliness of her motion is questionable, the court will noCpenpbell
to intervene in this case. Her motion for permissive intervention is DENIE

IV.  CONCLUSION
Plaintiffs’ motion for leave to amend their complaint is GRANFBDPART. Within

seven days, they may file a TAC in accordance with the court’s instructionendaets’ motion

"4 See League of United Latin Am. Citizens v. Wjl484 F.3d 1297, 1302 (9th Cir. 1997).
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to dismiss accordingly is DENIED as moot. Campbell’s orotd intervene on either permissive
grounds or as a matter of right is also DENIED.

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

Dated: Noyember 15, 201

PAUL S. GREWAL
United States Magistratiudge
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